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A History of
Sierra Railway 4-6-0 No. 3 

Kyle Wyatt

In March of 1891 the Rogers Locomotive and Machine Works in Patterson, New Jersey, built 4-6-0 locomotive, construction number 4493, as Prescott & Arizona Central Railway 3rd no. 3, named W. N. Kelley.  The 1st no. 3 had been built to the same specifications by Rogers in 1887 as construction number 3815, but the P&AC had been forced to turn it over almost immediately to the Atlantic & Pacific Railroad as A&P 99 to satisfy a debt.  Both locomotives had 17x24 inch cylinders, 56-inch drivers, and weighed 100,000 pounds.  P&AC 2nd no. 3 was a rented 2-6-0.

The 4-6-0 wheel arrangement was one of the most popular used in the 19th century, particularly where heavy loads were hauled up steep grades.  A. J. Stevens, General Master Mechanic of the Central Pacific in the 1870s and 1880s, preferred the 4-wheel lead truck of the 4-6-0 over the similar 2-6-0 because it tracked better and caused less wear on the railroad.  P&AC no. 3 was a classic example of the 19th century 4-6-0 design.

The Atlantic & Pacific Railway, a subsidiary of the Atchison, Topeka & Santa Fe, was completed across northern Arizona in 1883.   The line ran some distance north of the thriving mining and ranching center of Prescott.  It wasn’t long before the citizens of Prescott stared advocating for a rail connection to the Atlantic & Pacific.

The Prescott & Arizona Central was built by a group formed by Thomas S. Bullock.  In 1886 they completed a 73 mile line from a connection with the Atlantic & Pacific at Seligman to Prescott.  Built rapidly on a small budget, it was a constant struggle to keep the poorly constructed rail line in operation.  High rates and poor service soon produced a sizable opposition, including from the Atlantic & Pacific Railroad, and these forces quickly allied with a competitor, Frank Murphy's Santa Fe, Prescott & Phoenix, when it was completed in 1893.  Within 2 months the Prescott & Arizona Central was bankrupt and in receivership.

With the demise of the Prescott & Arizona Central, T. S. Bullock found himself with unutilized railroad equipment on his hands, so he went looking for other opportunities.  He wound up in Stockton, California, in 1896 surveying possible rail lines into the central Mother Lode region under the Sierra Pacific Railroad name.  At this time he met Prince André Poniatowski, an exiled Polish prince from France representing French and British capitalists investing in California mining.  Poniatowski was also the brother-in-law of William H. Crocker, President of the Crocker-Woolworth Bank and son of the Central Pacific's Charles Crocker.  Bullock and Poniatowski, with W. H. Crocker's support, decided to build a line into Tuolumne County, and incorporated the Sierra Railway of California on February 2, 1897.

Prescott & Arizona Central locomotive no. 3 became Sierra Railway no. 3, initially owned by Bullock's West Coast Construction Co., and later owned outright by the Sierra Ry.  It reportedly hauled the first passenger train on the line, to Cooperstown in June 1897, and served well during the heavy construction to Jamestown (1897), Sonora (1898) and Tuolumne (1900).  It was the heaviest main line locomotive on the railroad in the early years, and handled the freight trains until 2-8-0 no. 18 arrived in 1906.  After that no. 3 served as the primary relief engine, substituting for passenger locomotive no. 6, freight loco no. 18 and road helper no. 2 when any of these were in the Jamestown shops for repairs.

Sierra Ry. no. 3 had its share of bumps and scrapes over the years.  In February 1898 it split a switch at Chinese and toppled into a ditch, killing conductor William G. Bailey, reportedly a cousin of Bullock.  That was the only fatality known to have been caused by the engine.  In September 1899 no. 3 was in trouble again.  Backing over a trestle 8 miles below Chinese, its tender derailed, breaking supports on the trestle.  Somehow the locomotive stayed upright on the partly collapsed trestle, but the wrecking crew had to block the engine up, remove the broken timbers, and lower no. 3 to the ground before it could be hauled to safety.  In early 1919 locomotive no. 3 went on its side again up by Sanguinetti Road.  This wreck crushed the side of the original wooden cab, and resulted in its replacement with a 2nd hand Central Pacific steel cab.

Sierra no. 3 is best known today for its role in movies.  Its first documented use in this service was on May 26, 1919 in the first movie filmed on the Sierra Railway, The Red Glove.  No. 3 made a brief appearance in a train robbery scene using the regular passenger train.  It also appeared in a 1929 motion picture milestone, The Virginian, the first sound movie filmed outside a studio.  Filming was on May 20-21 around Cooperstown.  It was used again in 1930 in The Texan, but after that the Sierra Ry. used 2-8-0 no. 18 as the regular movie engine.

The Depression years were slim times for the Sierra Railway.  It went bankrupt in 1932, and was reorganized as the Sierra Railroad in 1937.  4-6-0 no 3 spent the years in retirement on a spur next to the turntable, out of service.

In 1946 the movie Duel in the Sun was being shot on the Sierra.  The film company wanted to restore old no. 3 to service for the film, including using it in a spectacular wreck scene at the end.  Sierra Railroad Master Mechanic Bill Tremewan preferred to keep no. 3 in one piece, but the movie interest may have sparked the decision to return the locomotive to movie service.  It was taken into the shops and rebuilt over the next several years.  On May 30, 1948 it returned to work, pulling a Railway & Locomotive Historical Society special excursion train.

Locomotive no. 3 served as a second movie engine from 1950 until January 1952, after which it assumed the primary movie duties.  Engine no. 18 was withdrawn from service in 1952 for a much-needed overhaul, and the following year was quietly retired.  One high point was on September 26, 1951 when High Noon was filmed at Warnerville with no. 3 pulling the train into town.  Other film highlights for no. 3 include the Great Race in 1966, and Bound for Glory in 1976.  In all no. 3 has appeared in well over 30 movies.

The engine has also starred on television, including The Lone Ranger and Tales of Wells Fargo in the 1950s; Petticoat Junction, Rawhide, Lassie, and The Man from UNCLE in the 1960s; and Gunsmoke, Bonanza, and Little House on the Prairie in the 1970s.  Over the years there have also been frequent appearances in documentaries, and numerous advertisements.

Change came to the Sierra Railroad in 1979.  The Crocker family, long time controlling owners of the line, announced their intention to sell their interests.  In a complex deal, the railroad was sold to a group of investors based in Chicago.  The Jamestown shop complex, along with the movie and excursion equipment was not included in the sale of the railroad.  Instead it was sold to the California Department of Parks and Recreation, becoming Railtown 1897 State Historic Park in 1982.  Trackage rights over the Sierra Railroad were included in the sale, and today no. 3 with the other historic equipment continues to operate over the line.  Movie and television appearances have continued under State ownership for no. 3, most notably including Back to the Future II in 1990 and Unforgiven in 1992.

But the locomotive is also showing it age.  In 1948 the no. 3 received a thorough checkup and the boiler pressure rating was lowered from 160 to 150 psi, but no major rebuilding was done.  In the years since then no. 3 has received good care and periodic replacements of tubes, but eventually everything reaches its limit.  Steam locomotives are designed so that wearing parts can be replaced.  With periodic rebuilding even old locomotives can continue to operate safely.

No. 3 has reached the point were it is time for a major overhaul to insure its safe operation into the future for many years.  This coincides with new Federal Railroad Administration standards for steam locomotive boilers, requiring a comprehensive evaluation of no. 3’s boiler and some upgrading.  The museum has decided to take this opportunity to put the locomotive in first class condition to insure its continued operation for many years to come.  A good deal of preliminary work was accomplished on no. 3 during 2000-2001 under the State’s deferred maintenance program.  The CSRM Foundation has taken on the responsibility for raising the additional money needed to fund the thorough overhaul of the boiler and running gear.  When the project is done, the locomotive will be in the best condition since it left the Rogers factory floor in 1891, ready for another 100 plus years of service.
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